
 

 
 

Hearing Date: April 18, 2005 at 10:00 a.m. 
 
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
-------------------------------------------------------------------x 
In Re  : Chapter 11 Case No. 
  : 04-13638 (RDD) 
RCN CORPORATION, et al.,  : 
  : Jointly Administered 
 Debtors. : 
  : 
-------------------------------------------------------------------x 
 

RESPONSE OF WINSTON & STRAWN LLP, COUNSEL  
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF RCN CORPORATION, ET AL., 
TO THE OBJECTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE AND U.S. TRUSTEE 

TO THE FINAL APPLICATION FOR COMPENSATION 
AND REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES OF WINSTON & STRAWN LLP 

 
Winston & Strawn LLP (“Winston”), counsel to the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”) of RCN Corporation (“RCN”) and its affiliated debtors and debtors in possession 

(collectively, the “Debtors”), hereby submits this response to the objections submitted by the 

Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the “Committee”), dated April 8, 2005, and by the 

Office of the United States Trustee (the “Trustee”), dated February 16, 2005, to the Final 

Application of Winston & Strawn LLP, Counsel to the Board of Directors of RCN Corporation, 

et al., For Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses, dated February 4, 2005 (the “Final 

Application”).  For the reasons set forth below, the objections of the Committee and the Trustee 

should be overruled. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. On May 27, 2004, RCN and four of its subsidiaries filed petitions for relief under 

Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”).  Five other RCN 

subsidiaries commenced Chapter 11 cases during August 2004.   
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2. On December 21, 2004—a mere seven months after these cases were first 

commenced—the Debtors emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection.  During this period, 

Debtors restructured $4 billion of debt, resolved more than 90% of their 2,120 claims, and 

continued to operate their businesses and manage their properties as debtors in possession 

pursuant to Sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code. 

3. In June 2004, Winston was retained to provide advice to the Board and to perform 

legal services for the Board in connection with these Chapter 11 cases.  In its Final Application, 

Winston seeks an award of $1,143,388.20, for work its on behalf of the Board from June 7, 2004 

through December 16, 2004.  This figure includes fees of $1,111,789.75 and expenses of 

$31,598.45.1   

4. At the interim fee hearing held on November 18, 2004, this Court expressed the 

view that, as a general matter, the services provided by board counsel in any Chapter 11 case 

“should be quite limited given the expertise of the debtor’s counsel and the general overlap of the 

board’s interests with the debtor’s interests.”  See Transcript of Hearing November 18, 2004 

(Docket No. 473) at 14:5-14:7.  In that context, the Court expressed concerns about Winston’s 

fees and the scope of its work.   

5. The evidence submitted at the hearing on this Final Application will make clear 

that the Board in this particular case was faced with a range of unusual and difficult issues which 

required the Board to obtain extensive assistance from independent counsel.  Indeed, conflicts 

among the Committee, Debtors’ financial advisors, and Debtors’ counsel required the Board, 

through the Lead Director appointed by the Board on June 30, 2004, to take a very active role in 

                                                 
1  Tables detailing the fees and expenses were submitted with the Final Application and are attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 
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this reorganization.  Repeated conflicts with the Committee over what direction the 

reorganization should take, and over the fiduciary duties of the Board, exacerbated the situation.  

Because of these conflicts, the Board required counsel independent of Debtors’ bankruptcy 

counsel to advise and assist the Board and its Lead Director in moving the reorganization process 

forward.  Those services did not duplicate work done by Debtors’ counsel.  Rather, in the context 

of those conflicts, Winston met the unusually extensive needs of the Board, providing valuable 

and necessary services that were both within the scope of the approved retention and required 

and directed by the Board.  

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

6. On July 8, 2004, Debtors filed an application pursuant to Bankruptcy Code 

Sections 327(e) and 328 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2014 and 2016 authorizing the retention of 

Winston as special counsel to the Board (the “Retention Application”).2  The Retention 

Application provided that Winston was being retained to “advise the Board of Directors as their 

attorneys and provide legal services and advice from time to time in connection with these 

[Chapter 11] cases.”  Retention Application ¶ 8.  Moreover, the Retention Application provided 

that these services would “includ[e]” the following: 

a. corporate governance matters; 

b. fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors;  

c. matters concerning the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
Federal Communications Commission or any other federal, state or 
local regulatory agency; 

 
d. any investigations;  
 
e. any securities class actions or shareholders derivative actions; and  

                                                 
2  A copy of the Retention Application is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
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f. other matters that arise in connection with these cases, including 

but not limited to, the following:  
 

(1) conducting legal research; 
 
(2) collecting and reviewing documents; 
 
(3) interviewing relevant current and former officers, directors 

and employees of the Debtors and other tasks in connection 
with these proceedings;  

 
(4) reviewing developments in these [Chapter 11] cases and 

advising the Board of Directors in connection therewith; 
 
(5) providing legal advice to the Board of Directors in support 

of its ongoing responsibilities with respect to the Debtors’ 
operations, including attendance at meetings of the Board 
of Directors and its committees;  

 
(6) representing and providing such services as are requested 

by the Board of Directors in connection with any litigation 
that may be brought against the Board of Directors;  

 
(7) if necessary, appearing before the Bankruptcy Court, any 

district or appellate courts, and the United States Trustee on 
behalf of the Board of Directors with respect to the matters 
referred to above; and 

 
(8) providing the full range of legal services and advice 

normally associated with the matters referred to above.  
 
Retention Application ¶ 8.  The Declaration of David Neier, Esq., a Winston partner, and a copy 

of the engagement letter between Winston and the Board accompanied the Retention 

Application.  Copies are attached as part of the Retention Application at Exhibit B. 

7. The Retention Application was approved by this Court in an order dated July 30, 

2004 (the “Retention Order”).3  The Retention Order authorized the retention of Winston as 

                                                 
3  A copy of the Retention Order is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
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special counsel to the Board, effective as of June 7, 2004, to perform those services identified in 

the Retention Application, engagement letter and Retention Order.  Retention Order ¶ 2.   

8. In the months that followed, and in accordance with this Court’s rules, Winston 

filed monthly fee statements reflecting the time being spent by Winston attorneys in connection 

with these matters.  Copies of those monthly fee statements were submitted with Winston’s Final 

Application. 

9. On October 26, 2004, Winston submitted its First Interim Application for 

Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses (the “Interim Application”) to the Court.  In its 

Interim Application, Winston sought an order authorizing payment of compensation for fees and 

expenses in the amount of $793,897.75, reflecting work performed by Winston during the period 

June 7, 2004 through and including September 30, 2004.  

10. The Committee and Trustee filed objections to Winston’s Interim Application.  At 

a hearing on November 18, 2004, the Court expressed concerns with Winston’s fees given the 

relatively limited role of board counsel in other Chapter 11 cases, and the possibility that 

Winston’s work duplicated work done by Debtor’s counsel, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & 

Flom LLP (“Skadden”).  As a result, the Court authorized an interim award of only 50% of the 

total fees sought in Winston’s Interim Application.  Because Winston had previously received 

payments in excess of the 50% limit, Winston reimbursed the estate for the difference shortly 

after the hearing.  

11. On February 4, 2005, Winston submitted its Final Application, seeking an order 

directing payment of $1,111,789.75 in fees and $31,598.45 in disbursements, for a total 

allowance of $1,143,388.20. 
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12. The Committee and Trustee filed objections to Winston’s Final Application.  The 

Committee contends that some services performed by Winston:  (1) exceeded the scope of the 

Court’s Retention Order; and/or (2) duplicated services performed by Skadden. 4  The Committee 

and Trustee together object because Winston’s fees predominantly reflect services rendered by 

attorneys at the partner level.5   Specifically, the Trustee took issue with a number of time entries 

by Winston partners addressing “research” and review of cases.6  Trustee Objections at 3, n.1. 

13. Winston’s services consisted primarily of partner time because the services 

requested and directed by the Board required senior- level guidance and advice.  As will be 

demonstrated, these partner services: (1) were precisely the services the Board requested; (2) 

were within the scope of the Retention Order; (3) were necessary to Debtors’ reorganization in 

light of events that developed; and (4) did not duplicate the work done by Skadden.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Winston’s Retention as Board Counsel 

14. Winston was first contacted concerning the proposed representation in early June 

2004, approximately ten days after the petitions were filed.  At that time, a telephone interview 

was conducted by Board Executive Committee member Alfred Fasola (who later became Lead 

Director) with Winston partners Robert Bostrom, David Neier and Matthew Botica.   

                                                 
4  See Objection Of Official Committee Of Unsecured Creditors Of RCN Corporation, et al.  To Application 
Of Winston & Strawn LLP, Counsel To Board Of Directors Of RCN Corporation et al., For Final Allowance Of 
Compensation And Reimbursement Of Expenses, dated April 8, 2005 (“Committee Objections”). 
5  See Objection Of The United States Trustee To Final Application For Compensation And Reimbursement 
Of Expenses, dated February 14, 2005 (“Trustee Objections”). 
6 The Trustee also objects because the Final Application fails to reflect a $40,000 reduction to which 
Winston had previously agreed that was intended to address this objection.  Winston acknowledges that this 
agreement was made with the Trustee; the failure to give effect to it in the Final Application was an oversight, and 
the Final Application should be reduced to that extent. 
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15. During the interview with Mr. Fasola, Winston was advised that it would be 

replacing previous Board counsel, Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP (“Cahill”), because a conflict 

of interest had arisen between Cahill and the Board.  Cahill’s long-standing client, Deutsche 

Bank, had agreed to provide exit financing to the Debtors, and Cahill wished to represent 

Deutsche Bank in that regard.  Winston learned that Deutsche Bank’s commitment expired at 

year-end, on December 31, 2004, and that the Board believed this was critical to the success of 

the proposed restructuring plan. 

16. During the interview, Mr. Fasola further advised Winston that it was being 

retained to provide services to the Board in connection with matters both related and unrelated to 

the Debtors’ bankruptcy cases. 

17. With respect to matters unrelated to the Debtors’ bankruptcy cases, Winston was 

advised that it would be providing general advice to the Board concerning corporate governance, 

the Board’s fiduciary duties, related obligations and potential liabilities, preparing for and 

attending Board meetings, and generally advising the Board with respect to matters requiring its 

attention. 

18. With respect to bankruptcy-related tasks, Winston was advised that it would be 

responsible for reviewing developments in the Chapter 11 cases and keeping the Board informed 

of such matters.  In addition, Winston understood that it might be called upon to represent the 

Board in connection with matters including, but not limited to, insurance, plan indemnity and 

releases and any litigation that might ensue. 

19. In the weeks that followed, Winston learned that a fundamental disagreement 

concerning the form and scope of the Debtors’ reorganization had developed that seriously 

endangered the pre-arranged bankruptcy plan that the Board had previously approved, and that, 
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as the disagreement persisted, it required the Board to take an unusually active, hands-on role in 

the reorganization process.  Specifically, Winston learned that: 

a. the major constituencies—the Debtors, the senior secured lenders (the 
“Bank Group”) and the Committee—were fundamentally at odds with 
each other over the business operations of the Debtors; 

 
b. as a result, and contrary to the Board’s understanding, no lock-up 

agreement, plan support agreement or plan had been agreed to by the 
Committee, Bank Group and Debtors, and no negotiations were taking 
place to resolve these issues; 

 
c. because no such agreement was in place, no consensus had been reached 

concerning the terms of any directors and officers liability insurance 
coverage or the releases and indemnification that would be provided to the 
Board upon Debtors’ emergence from Chapter 11; and 

 
d. certain of the Debtors’ professional advisors—Skadden and AP Services, 

LLC (“Alix Partners”)—disagreed with each other with respect to the 
Debtors’ business operations, and the strategy and plan of reorganization 
that should be pursued. 

 
20. As events transpired in late June 2004, Winston learned from Mr. Fasola that he 

and his fellow Board members were very unhappy with this state of affairs and had lost 

confidence in the Debtors’ professional advisors.  The Board was extremely concerned that the 

disagreements between the Committee and the Bank Group, on the one hand, and between 

Skadden and Alix Partners, on the other, would prolong the proceedings and jeopardize the 

Debtors’ exit financing and confirmation.  As a result, Winston was advised by Mr. Fasola that 

the Board needed assistance from independent counsel to resolve these conflicts and put the case 

back on track toward resolution by year-end.  The situation, the Board concluded, required the 

Board and Mr. Fasola, as Lead Director, to take a very active role in the reorganization process, 

and he, in turn, relied heavily on Winston as the Board’s counsel.   
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21. Moreover, the Board wanted Winston’s work to be carried out confidentially.  As 

the Board advised Winston, it was concerned that any disclosure of these issues would be highly 

prejudicial to the Debtors and their reorganization efforts. 

22. Although the amount of time Winston was directed by the Board and its Lead 

Director to spend on these matters thus came to be substantially greater than Winston had 

initially anticipated, the character of the work performed over the next several months at Mr. 

Fasola’s direction fell squarely within the scope authorized in the Retention Order. 

23. Because most of the Committee’s objections are directly related to the services 

provided by Winston to the Board in connection with the resolution of these multiple conflicts, 

the salient facts are set out in more detail below. 

B. The Committee’s Demands and the Substantive Consolidation Debate 

24. At the outset, to ensure the proper flow of information to the Board concerning 

developments in the Chapter 11 cases, the Board asked Winston to examine various governance 

mechanisms and provide a recommendation to the Board.  These efforts ultimately led to Mr. 

Fasola’s appointment as Lead Director.  The Board also asked Winston to identify a process and 

procedure by which it could assess the demands of the Committee and Bank Group.  The Board 

wanted an understanding of the scope of its fiduciary duties in this context, not only duties to the 

shareholders, but duties to the creditors as well.  Winston performed the requested tasks. 

25. As part of this process, Mr. Fasola also asked Winston to meet with each of the 

Debtors’ lead professionals—Skadden, Alix Partners and The Blackstone Group, L.P., 

(“Blackstone”)—to gain an understanding of the situation and report back to him.  Mr. Fasola 

instructed Winston to begin performing an analysis of the issues confronting the Board with 

respect to various constituencies.  Mr. Fasola stressed, however, that the very first priority was to 
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get all of the Debtors’ advisors—Skadden, Alix Partners and Blackstone—working together with 

the Board.  The next matter of business, Mr. Fasola advised, was to meet with the Committee 

and Bank Group to gain an understanding of the disagreements between them and the concerns 

each of them had with the Debtors.   

26. During the meetings that followed, Winston learned that the Committee, 

consisting solely of RCN’s bondholders, wanted the Board to pursue an overall structural 

reorganization of RCN that would involve filing bankruptcy petitions for all of RCN’s 

subsidiaries.  In addition, the Committee wanted the Board to agree to seek an order directing 

substantive consolidation of all of these entities.  The Committee believed that substantial cost 

savings could be achieved in these circumstances at the subsidiary level and the companies’ 

consolidated assets could be distributed in a manner that would increase the creditors’ recovery.   

27. Winston also learned that Skadden disagreed with this strategy.  Skadden 

recommended a financial restructuring of RCN, the parent holding company, as quick, safe and 

cost-effective.  Skadden also advised that it had completed a substantive consolidation analysis 

and determined there was no basis for substantive consolidation here.  Moreover, as lawyers at 

Skadden explained, if such a strategy were pursued, it could expose the Board to potential 

liability on a number of fronts.   

28. Winston also learned, on the other hand, that Alix Partners believed placing the 

remainder of the subsidiary companies in Chapter 11 would provide greater cost savings, 

primarily because of Bankruptcy Code provisions permitting the rejection of leases.7  Alix 

Partners also stated, however, that it had examined the company’s books and records and 

business operations and concluded that substantive consolidation was not warranted. 

                                                 
7  Only four of the non-operating subsidiaries had been included in the initial filing. 
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29. The dispute about reorganization strategy came to a head in late June 2004, when 

the Board discovered that steps were being taken, without the Board’s knowledge or consent, to 

prepare Chapter 11 petitions for the remaining RCN subsidiaries.  The Board called an 

emergency meeting for June 30, 2004 that Winston was asked to attend.  At that meeting, the 

Board adopted Winston’s recommendation to appoint a lead director to oversee the Chapter 11 

process and elected Mr. Fasola to that post.  The Board also requested a thorough analysis of the 

Committee’s demands and any other options that might be available to address the Committee’s 

concerns.  The Board asked Winston to participate in this process, independently examine the 

issue of substantive consolidation, and review and report all developments to the Board. 

30. The Board, at this stage, turned to Winston for high- level advice from 

experienced and independent corporate and bankruptcy counsel to assist it in assessing the 

Committee’s demands and in resolving the conflicts.  This required an extensive amount of time 

and attention on the part of the Board and, consequently, extensive time and attention from 

Winston at the Board’s request.  The Board made it clear that independence was a critical factor. 

31. In the weeks that followed, Winston reviewed background materials and 

conducted research concerning, among other things, the fiduciary duties of the Board and its 

Lead Director to its shareholders and creditors.  Winston also participated in numerous meetings 

and conference calls with Skadden, Alix Partners and Blackstone, and reviewed their respective 

analyses of the issues.  Winston also conferred extensively with RCN Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer David McCourt and Lead Director Mr. Fasola.  

32. Throughout July and August 2004, weekly meetings were held among all 

interested parties in an effort to understand and assess the different options.  Winston 

participated in these meetings at the Board’s request, along with Mr. McCourt and/or the Mr. 
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Fasola.  Because the conflicts between the Committee, Skadden and Alix Partners regularly 

resurfaced at the weekly group planning meetings, Mr. McCourt and Mr. Fasola wanted Winston 

partners present to advise and assist them in managing the conflict, and be fully informed of the 

numerous issues on which these parties differed.  At the Board’s request, Winston partner Robert 

Bostrom fulfilled many of these client duties as and when needed. 

33. By mid-July, the differences among the distinct factions had turned sour.  

Negotiations between the Committee and Skadden came to a virtual standstill, as a Committee 

and bondholder representative, Gary Singer, demanded that the Board, as a matter of its fiduciary 

duty, put all subsidiaries in Chapter 11 and pursue substantive consolidation.  Skadden, however, 

counseled against it and stated unequivocally that it would not take such actions. 

34. The Board was keenly aware of its obligations to the companies’ shareholders and 

creditors to examine the Committee’s demands before making a decision as to how best to 

proceed.  Moreover, the Committee’s unwillingness to cooperate with Skadden made it 

imperative that the Board have independent counsel that was not embroiled in and part of their 

dispute.   

35. As time progressed, and the prospect of a significant delay in the proceedings 

became more real, a series of compromises was reached in an effort to keep the process moving 

forward.  The Board was responsible for assessing and approving these steps, and it sought and 

obtained the assistance of Winston in carrying out these responsibilities. 

36. First, the Board agreed to retain the Committee’s lead restructuring consultant, 

Peter Aquino of PDA Group, LLC.  This, it was believed, would enable the Committee to satisfy 

itself that costs were under control and the value of the creditors’ interests in RCN was being 

maintained.  The decision, however, was very controversial because the Bank Group and 
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Skadden strenuously objected to Mr. Aquino’s retention for this purpose.  Indeed, Skadden 

believed that Mr. Aquino’s retention by Debtors would lead to a motion for the appointment of a 

trustee.  At the Board’s request, Winston assisted the Board in resolving this conflict and 

ensuring that Mr. Aquino’s retention would pose no potential issues for the Board. 

37. Second, the Debtors and Skadden agreed to replace Jay Goffman as lead 

bankruptcy counsel for the Debtors, bringing in  D. Jan Baker, another partner at Skadden.  Mr. 

Baker assumed responsibility for this matter in late August 2004.   

38. Third, the Board and the Debtors agreed to pursue an aggressive cost-reduction 

program to enhance the value of the ultimate distribution to the creditors.  At the Board’s 

request, Winston monitored this program to keep the Board informed of significant 

developments, particularly as they related to major issues involving the companies’ franchises, 

leases and other real estate matters, as well as claims asserted by Merrill Lynch, the City of 

Chicago, Kemper, and IBM.  In addition, as was true throughout the pendency of these cases, 

significant disagreements arose concerning these specific matters that necessitated the Board’s 

involvement. 

39. Fourth, all parties agreed, after thorough analysis of the substantive consolidation 

issue, to proceed with a modified version of the more limited financial restructuring that had 

been initially proposed.  The terms of this arrangement, of course, were subject to extensive 

negotiation throughout the late summer and fall, as the terms of the Disclosure Statement and 

Plan of Reorganization were put into place.  Winston was asked to review these draft documents 

and to provide comments on behalf of the Board to Skadden because the terms of this 

compromise had significant impact on the Board’s potential liability. 
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C. Other Work Performed By Winston 

40. Apart from the work Winston performed in connection with the substantive 

consolidation debate, Winston was specifically asked by the Board to advise it concerning a 

number of other matters relating the Chapter 11 cases that impacted the Board’s potential 

liability.  Those tasks included, for example, the following: 

a. advising the Board members concerning the Chapter 11 
bankruptcy process, as it related to the business going forward and 
business and/or bankruptcy strategy; 

b. reviewing the proposed and final joint plans of reorganization and 
researching and analyzing the scope of the release and 
indemnification provisions therein;  

c. reviewing and analyzing the exit- financing commitment from 
Deutsche Bank and an alternative proposal from D.E. Shaw; 

d. reviewing and analyzing sale of Debtors’ interest in a joint venture 
with Megacable;  

e. reviewing and analyzing the Debtors’ proposed purchase of the 
interest of joint venture partner, Pepco, in Starpower and related 
litigation with Corvis; 

f. reviewing and analyzing SEC disclosure issues arising in 
connection with 8-K, 10-K and other filings;  

g. reviewing and analyzing professional retention applications, 
including those of executive search consultant, Spencer Stuart; 

h. reviewing and analyzing key employee retention plan (KERP) 
issues;  

i. exploring the disposition of RCN Entertainment; and 

j. reviewing and analyzing fresh start accounting requirements and 
interviewing accounting firms. 

41. In addition to issues relating to the Chapter 11 proceedings, Winston provided 

other services to the Board.  Early on, the Board, and its Audit Committee in particular, 

requested advice in connection with its corporate governance procedures and internal controls to 
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guide the Debtors through the restructuring process.  The Board asked Winston to review the 

companies’ by- laws, existing policies and procedures and provide it with recommendations as to 

how to proceed.   

42. As Board counsel, Winston took the lead at Board meetings, preparing agenda, 

presentations and compiling the Board minutes.  Winston also provided written and oral advice 

to the Board concerning the scope of its fiduciary duties generally and to its members in their 

various capacities as lead director, independent directors, and members of the Board Audit 

Committee.  As part of this work, Winston prepared reports and memoranda to the Board, Mr. 

McCourt and Mr. Fasola. 

43. At the Board’s request, Winston also handled a number of issues relating to the 

directors and offices liability insurance program.  Significantly, Winston was instrumental in 

obtaining an extended reporting period for the existing directors and officers’ insurance policy 

and negotiating a renewal of the policy on favorable terms.  As part of this work, Winston 

engaged in discussions with the insurance brokers on the Board’s behalf and reviewed and 

analyzed the terms of the relevant insurance contracts. 

44. In addition, during October and November 2004, Winston also represented the 

Board, at its request, in several litigation matters that had been commenced against certain Board 

members by RCN shareholders and employees.  As part of this work, Winton researched and 

analyzed the merits of the claims asserted and the potential defenses that might be available to 

the Board members.  Winston also researched and analyzed issues relating to the availability of 

insurance coverage for these claims and the coverage defenses that had been asserted by the 

insurance carriers. 
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ARGUMENT 

45. The appropriate amount of compensation payable to professionals retained in 

connection with a Chapter 11 case is determined based on a review of relevant factors applied on 

a case-by-case basis.  See generally 3 Collier on Bankruptcy ¶ 330.01 (15th ed. rev. 2005).  

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 330(a), a court presented with an application for compensation is 

to consider “the nature, the extent and the value of such services, taking into account all relevant 

factors.”  See 11 U.S.C. § 330(a)(3)(A).  Among the factors to be considered is “whether the 

services were necessary to the administration of, or beneficial at the time the service was 

rendered toward the completion of, a case under this title.”  11 U.S.C. § 330(a)(3)(c).  Here, the 

services performed by Winston were not only beneficial, but also necessary to the timely 

completion of this case and Winston’s charges for these services are appropriate in light of the 

other factors listed in Bankruptcy Code § 330(a)(3).8  

A. Winston’s Services On Behalf Of The Board Fell  
 Squarely Within The Scope Of This Court’s Mandate 
 
46. The Committee contends that the Retention Order limited the scope of Winston’s 

services to very “discrete ‘board-specific’ issues” such as indemnification and fiduciary duties.  

Committee Objections ¶ 1.  This simply is not correct. 

47. Winston was retained as special counsel to the Board.  Although the work 

Winston was directed to carry out was more extensive than Winston initially anticipated, it is 

quite clear that the nature of that work fell within the scope of the Retention Application and 

Order.  The Retention Order is not narrow and limited; to the contrary, it authorizes a wide range 

                                                 
8  Those factors are:  (1) the time spent on such services; (2) the rates charged for such services; (3) whether 
the services were performed within a reasonable amount of time commensurate with the complexity, importance, 
and nature of the problem, issue or task addressed; and (4) whether the compensation is reasonable based on the 
customary compensation charged by comparably skilled practitioners in cases other than cases under this title.  11 
U.S.C. § 330(a)(3). 
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of services to meet the needs of the Board.  Retention Application ¶ 8.  Contrary to the 

Committee’s assertion, moreover, the Retention Order authorizes Winston to perform work of a 

bankruptcy-related nature.  It expressly provides that Winston shall review and advise the Board 

concerning developments in the Chapter 11 cases and provide other advice to the Board in 

connection with its ongoing responsibilities concerning the Debtors’ operations. Id. 

48. Most of the Winston work to which the Committee objects relates to Winston’s 

assessment and resolution of demands made by the Committee to the Board, demands that 

Committee representatives insisted the Board should pursue as a matter of its fiduciary duty.  

Although the extent of the work required here might have been unusual because of the conflicts 

that were so consistently rekindled, work of this nature is clearly covered by the Retention Order.   

49. For example, the Committee therein objects to Winston’s work advising the 

Board with respect to “[the] Chapter 11 bankruptcy process as it relates to business going 

forward and business/bankruptcy strategy.”  Committee Objections at 10.  The Retention Order, 

however, gives Winston the express authority to review and advise the Board concerning 

developments in the bankruptcy cases and to advise the Board “in support of its ongoing 

responsibilities with respect to the Debtors’ operations.”  Retention Application ¶ 8(b), (c).  

Because of the conflicts, the Board required advice from its own counsel in these cases and, 

because of the conflicts, the Board requested and received extensive assistance from Winston.   

50. The Committee also objects to Winston’s work in connection with the preparation 

of “agenda, various presentations and attend[ance at] all Board meetings” to the extent that the 

Board meetings “were convened to examine issues” and make “decisions with respect to the 

chapter 11 cases” such as “plan consideration and whether to sell certain assets.”  Committee 

Objections at 10.  Board meetings are rarely so narrow in focus in any event, but there is nothing 



 

 
 

18

in the Retention Order that limits Winston’s advice to the Board and participation in Board 

meetings to the narrow topics the Committee suggests.  To the contrary, the Retention Order 

expressly authorized Winston to do this work if the Board needed it, which it did in this case. 

51. The same holds true for the Committee’s objections to work performed by 

Winston in connection with “legal research on various topics” and its review of “various legal 

documents and agreements relating to StarPower . . . Pepco, Corvis and D.E. Shaw.”  Committee 

Objections at 10.  The Retention Order authorizes Winston to conduct legal research and review 

documents in connection with its service to the Board.  This work was undertaken at the 

direction of the Lead Director as part of the Board’s diligence in carrying out the restructuring 

plan and to advise the Board concerning its fiduciary duties with respect to these transactions.9   

52. Finally in this regard, the Committee objects to time spent by Winston “to discuss 

case strategy” and its participation in “plan negotiations,” and review of “plan strategy, 

negotiations, financial outlook presentations and steering committee issues.”  The Retention 

Order permits Winston to review developments and perform other tasks in connection with these 

Chapter 11 cases.  Moreover, because most of this work also related to Winston’s assessment of 

the demands made by the Committee to the Board, it also falls squarely within Winston’s 

authority to handle matters relating to the Board’s fiduciary duties, an area in which the Lead 

Director frequently needed independent advice and assistance. 

53. The Committee had the opportunity, as the Retention Order provides, to seek to 

modify the Order at any time during the course of these proceedings.10    The Committee made 

                                                 
9  The specific nature of these services is described in paragraphs 58 and 59, below. 
10  At the Committee’s request, the Order also provided that Winston’s services should not duplicate services 
provided by other counsel on behalf of the Debtors.  Retention Order at ¶ 4.  In the event circumstances developed 
that, in the Committee’s opinion, would have rendered Winston’s retention in contravention of Bankruptcy Code 
Section 327(e) or any other provision thereof, the Retention Order permitted the Committee to seek appropriate 
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no such motion.  It should not be permitted to re-write the Retention Order long after the nature 

and extent of Winston’s services were well known to it. 

B. The Work Performed By Winston 
 Did Not Duplicate That of Skadden  
 
54. The Committee also objects to Winston’s Final Application because it believes 

Winston performed services that duplicated services provided to the Debtors by Skadden.  For 

example, the Committee criticizes Winston for work that the Committee describes as 

“negotiating and documenting the plan, formulating bankruptcy case strategy, examining 

financial reports prepared by retained advisors, examining whether to file operating companies 

and other subsidiaries and examining substantive consolidation.”  Committee Objections ¶ 3.  

This work, the Committee argues, is improper “[c]onsidering the identical interests” shared by 

the Debtors and the Board.  Id. 

55. As the Committee is well aware and the testimony will amply demonstrate, the 

work performed by Winston and the work performed by Skadden were not duplicative.  Given 

(1) the conflicting advice and demands that were being presented to the Board by its professional 

advisors, (2) the Committee’s refusal to work with Debtors’ counsel at Skadden for a period of 

time, and (3) the Committee’s insistence that the Board adopt the Committee’s plan as a matter 

of its fiduciary duty, it is evident that the Board needed independent advice from counsel other 

than Skadden.  Indeed, under the circumstances, this was a role that Skadden could not fulfill. 

56. The Committee’s objections on this score are listed in charts appearing on page 

12 and in Exhibit G of its Objections.  There, the Committee lists those Winston tasks it contends 

“were not appropriate” for Winston’s consideration and overlapped those that “should have been 

                                                                                                                                                             
relief, including the termination of Winston’s retention, “promptly and upon discovery and verification of the facts 
of such circumstances.”  Id. at ¶ 5. 
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handled” or were “capably handled” by Skadden. 11  The majority of these objections relates to 

work performed by Winston on behalf of the Board to respond to the Committee’s demands and 

resolve the many conflicts that they generated.  Each of these objections is addressed in turn: 

a. Bankruptcy alternatives and filings (44.35 hours):  The Committee 
contends that the decision whether to file subsidiary operating companies 
was not appropriate for Winston’s consideration.  To the contrary, the 
decision whether to place these companies in Chapter 11 was a decision to 
be made by the Board and Winston properly spent time addressing it.  This 
work, as Winston’s time records reflect, was devoted entirely to Winston’s 
review and evaluation of the Committee’s demands during July and 
August 2004.  See Exhibit D attached.  Moreover, as explained above, the 
Board needed the independent advice of Winston to assist it with this 
decision because of conflicting advice it had received from Skadden and 
Alix Partners and the substantive consolidation demands of the 
Committee.  

b. Bankruptcy/case strategy (67.10 hours):  The Committee objects because, 
it claims, “crafting a business plan and outlining a path toward 
emergence” were tasks “entrusted” to Skadden.  As the attached table 
shows, the work to which the Committee objects consists of meetings and 
other discussions among the Board, Debtors advisors and the Committee 
to address the Committee’s demands.  See Exhibit E attached.  Moreover, 
Winston did not as the Committee suggests “craft” the business plan or 
“outline” the path toward emergence, but reviewed these items on behalf 
of the Board. 

c. Blackstone financial presentations (30.95 hours):  The same is true here.  
As the Committee well knows, the Blackstone presentations were used by 
the Board to assist it in responding to the Committee’s demands and 
examining various options.  A review of Winston’s time records relating 
to Blackstone plainly demonstrates that Winston’s services were directly 
related to the Board’s analysis of these issues.   See Exhibit F attached. 

d. Operating companies/subsidiaries (20.86 hours):  The majority of 
references in Winston’s time records to the operating companies and 
subsidiaries also relate to the Committee’s demand that these entities be 
placed in Chapter 11 and substantive consolidation be pursued.  See 
Exhibit G attached.  For reasons stated previously, Winston appropriately 
examined these issues in the context of its work for the Board.  The few 

                                                 
11  We note here that merely asserting that a task “should have” been handled by Skadden does not evidence 
that Winston duplicated Skadden’s work.  Nonetheless, in the circumstances it was proper for the Board to ask 
Winston to perform the work in question. 
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entries to which the Committee objects that relate to RCN Entertainment 
(reflecting 4.3 hours, and a total of $2,322) were incurred to as part of 
Winston’s reporting obligations to the Board. 

e. “Plan” General (Negotiation, Review And Documentation) (245.80 
hours):  Winston’s work here primarily involved reviewing Plan drafts and 
discussing them internally and with members of the Board and Skadden.  
The time entries clearly show that Winston reviewed the Plan and its 
drafts on behalf of the Board in connection with its analysis of and 
attempts to address the Committee’s demands.  In addition, some of the 
time entries show that Winston reviewed the Plan for purposes for which 
the Committee claims it does not object—such as the analysis of the 
release and indemnification provisions and the ERISA litigation.  See 
Exhibit H; Committee Objections ¶¶ 1, 13.  It is also evident from the time 
entries upon which the Committee’s objection is based that Winston did 
not, as the Committee suggests, “draft,” “document” or take the lead in 
plan negotiations.   

f. Substantive Consolidation (20.86 hours):  Winston’s work here was 
directly related to its analysis, on behalf of the Board, of the Committee’s 
demands.  See Exhibit I attached. 

57. The Committee also objects to several tasks performed by Winston tha t it claims 

involved matters of “business judgment” “capably handled” by Skadden or were “‘pure chapter 

11’ matter[s] falling squarely within the realm of ‘conducting the case.’”  Committee Objections 

at 12.  The Committee’s objections here are also misplaced.  Because resolution of the 

Committee’s demands involved the implementation of a drastic, cost-reduction plan and close 

attention to several major claims, Winston spent time reviewing these matters and advising the 

Board with respect to major developments.  The objections, thus, to the work performed by 

Winston in connection with the Merrill/Kemper claims (42.30 hours) (see Exhibit J), and the 

franchise, real estate and lease issues (10.30) (see Exhibit K), should be overruled.  Indeed, Lead 

Director, Mr. Fasola played a major role in negotiating key franchise agreements so as to satisfy 

the Committee’s demands. 

58. In addition, other matters to which the Committee objects were undertaken as part 

of Winston’s responsibility to review and report developments to the Board so that it could 
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properly exercise its fiduciary duties in assessing these major financing or transactional matters.  

That work, as reflected in the detailed time records (see Exhibit L), consisted of the following:  

a. Deutsche Bank Financing/D.E. Shaw (9.20 hours):  This work 
involved reviewing and advising the Board concerning 
developments with the exit- financing commitment and alternative 
options. 

 
b. StarPower/Pepco (57.60 hours):  This involved reviewing and 

analyzing the Debtors’ proposed purchase of the interest of joint 
venture partner, Pepco, in Starpower, and related litigation with 
Corvis, and reporting major developments to the Board. 
 

c. Megacable (7.00 hours):  This involved reviewing and analyzing 
the transaction with this joint venture partner and reporting on 
developments to the Board.  
 

d. KERP (10.60 hours):  This involved reviewing and analyzing key 
employee retention plan (KERP) issues and advising the Board 
with respect to same. 
 

e. Accounting Issues/Fresh Start Accounting (4.35 hours):  This 
involved reviewing and analyzing fresh start accounting 
requirements and interviewing accounting firms on behalf of the 
Board. 
 

59. Contrary to the Committee’s objection, the work Winston performed in 

connection with these issues did not duplicate work performed by Skadden.  Winston did not 

draft the Disclosure Statement or the Plan of Reorganization; rather, it reviewed the drafts 

prepared by Skadden and offered comments and advice on those aspects pertaining to issues 

confronting the Board.  Winston did not take the lead in identifying and assessing all of the legal 

and business aspects of the options being considered; rather, this was work performed by 

Skadden that Winston reviewed and discussed with the Board, to enable the Board to fulfill its 

fiduciary duties and make a well- informed and appropriate decision as to how best to proceed.   

60. Finally, a review of the actual time entries to which the Committee objects, and 

the descriptions of the work performed by Winston attorneys, belies any notion that Winston was 
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duplicating Skadden’s effort.  See Exhibits D-L attached.  To the contrary, these tables show that 

Winston’s work was devoted primarily to matters involving advice to and communications with 

the Board, and a resolution of the Committee’s demands and the many conflicts those demands 

generated.  A review of the time records submitted by Skadden and summarized in its Final 

Application, in contrast, shows that Skadden devoted its time and effort to conducting the 

Chapter 11 cases, not on matters relating to the Board or corporate governance.12  The 

Committee’s sweeping objections on the ground of duplication thus, should not be sustained. 

C. All Tasks Performed By Winston Were Reasonable and  
 Necessary and Warrant Full Compensation 
 
61. The Committee, joined by the Trustee, together object to Winston’s Final 

Application on the grounds that it reflects an “inordinate amount of services” performed by 

Winston partners instead of associates.  Committee Objections ¶ 12; Trustee Objections ¶ 2.  

Given the nature of the assistance that the Board required in this case, however, it is not at all 

surprising that partners performed the overwhelming majority of the work.13   

62. As previously discussed, Winston partners, and in particular Robert Bostrom, 

were retained by the Board because the Board—which consisted of present and former CEOs 

and senior officers of a number of Fortune 500 companies—wanted high- level, experienced and 

independent advice to assist it in resolving a number of sensitive and highly cruc ial issues that 

                                                 
12  See Final Application of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP Seeking Allowance Of Fees For 
Professional Services Rendered And Disbursements Incurred As Counsel For The Debtors For The Period From 
May 27, 2004 Through December 21, 2004, at 4-5, attached hereto as Exhibit M. 
13 The Committee’s attempt to show that Winston’s fees are out of line with compensation awarded to Board 
counsel in other Chapter 11 cases fails to consider the unique circumstances presented here.  Neither of the cases 
upon which the Committee relies, In re K-Mart Corp., No. 02-2474 (N.D. Ill.) or In re Warnaco, No. 01-41643 
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), involved the complicated set of issues that the Board addressed in this case.  Moreover, fees 
awarded to special counsel retained in other Chapter 11 cases involving telecommunications companies far exceed 
those being sought by Winston in this case.  See, e.g., In re Adelphia Communications Corp., et al., No. 02-41729 
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) (awarding compensation to special counsel to the board in an amount that exceeds $7.5 million to 
date). 
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required their careful attention.  Winston was retained at a time when these issues were already 

pressing, and it was imperative that Winston get up to speed very quickly.  The Board 

demanded—and received—almost daily updates from Mr. Bostrom, and several members, 

particularly the Chairman, Mr. McCourt and the Lead Director, Mr. Fasola, often consulted with 

him multiple times each day.  The Board made it clear that it wanted senior-level advice, and this 

was the purpose for Winston’s retention. 

63. Winston’s time records bear this out.  More than half of the time spent by Mr. 

Bostrom in this matter involved meetings and consultations between him and various members 

of the Board.  This is not work that could have, should have or typically would have been 

relegated to associates. 

64. As a related matter, the Trustee points out that on occasion Winston partners did 

work categorized as “research.”  Given the circumstances, it was not at all surprising that 

Winston partners performed some research during the course of this case.  What the Board 

wanted was the advice and participation of experienced, senior practitioners.  Winston partners, 

and Mr. Bostrom in particular, needed to be well- informed on a full range of issues facing the 

Board and prepared to give them first-hand judgment and advice on demand.  Review of articles, 

relevant statutes and cases by partners in this context was entirely appropriate. 

65. For the entire case, the total amount of time billed by partners for research tasks 

of any kind was less than $90,000.  If associates had done that work, the associates would have 

had to be briefed on the work needed and the partner would then have had to review and 

assimilate the associates’ work.  It is unlikely that this would have resulted in any cost savings, 

and it might have delayed the delivery of advice when needed.  Under these circumstances, the 

fees caused by partners performing this work themselves were neither unusual nor excessive, and 
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the $40,000 reduction previously agreed upon with the U.S. Trustee is more than ample to cover 

any objection on these grounds. 

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, Winston & Strawn LLP respectfully requests that the Court enter an 

Order approving the Final Application and directing payment by the Debtors in the amounts set 

forth therein for fees and expenses, and granting such other and further relief as the Court deems 

just and proper. 

Dated: April 14, 2005 
 

 WINSTON & STRAWN LLP 
 
 
/s/ David Neier 

 David Neier (DN 5391) 
200 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10166 
212-294-4700 
 
Counsel for the Board of Directors of RCN 
Corporation, et al. 
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